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Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC" or "Commission"), by its undersigned

torneys, alleges:
1 The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission
ct ("FTCAct"), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to secure a permanent injunction and other equitable relief
ainst defendants for their deceptive acts or practices and false advertisements for foods, drugs,
evices, services or cosmeticsin violation of Sections 5(a) and 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
8§ 45(a) and 52.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
8§ 45(a), 52, and 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. §8§ 1331, 1337(a) and 1345.
3. Venuein thisDigtrict is proper under 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)
d (c).
PLAINTIFF
4, Plaintiff, the FTC, is an independent agency of the United States government
reated by statute, 15 U.S.C. 88 41-58. The FTC enforces Sections 5(a) and 12 of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 52, which prohibit, respectively, deceptive acts and practices, and false
vertisements for food, drugs, devices, cosmetics, or services, in or affecting commerce. The
FTC may initiate federal district court proceedings to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to
secure such equitable relief asis appropriate in each case. 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).
DEFENDANTS

5. Defendant Western Botanicals, Inc. is a California corporation with its principal

lace of business at 7341 Winding Way, Fair Oaks, CA 95628. Western Botanicals, Inc.,
ransacts or has transacted business in the Eastern District of California.
6. Defendant Randy C. Giboney is president of Western Botanicals, Inc.
Individually, or in concert with others, he directs, controls, formulates, or participates in the acts
d practices of Western Botanicals, Inc., including the acts and practices complained of below.

He transacts or has transacted business in the Eastern District of California.
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7. Defendant Kyle D. Christensen is the vice-president of Western Botanicals, Inc.

Individually, or in concert with others, he directs, controls, formulates, or participates in the acts
d practices of Western Botanicals, Inc., including the acts and practices complained of below.
He transacts or has transacted business in the Eastern District of California.

COMMERCE

8. At all times material to this complaint, defendants’ course of business, including
he acts and practices alleged herein, has been and isin or affecting commerce, as "commerce” is
Lefined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.
DEFENDANTS COURSE OF CONDUCT

9. Since at least 1998, and continuing thereafter, defendants have marketed herbal

roducts that purportedly treat and alleviate the symptoms of various diseases and health
onditions.
10. Defendants market an herb commonly known as comfrey and products containing
omfrey leaves and/or comfrey roots (referred to collectively herein as “comfrey products’).
mong defendants’ comfrey products are bulk comfrey leaf, bulk comfrey root, “ Arthritis Tonic”
containing devils claw root, cats claw bark, celery seed, meadowsweet, licorice root, and
omfrey leaf), “ Complete Tissue Repair Syrup,” and “Complete Tissue Repair Ointment” (each
ontaining comfrey root, white oak bark, marshmallow root, mullein leaf, black walnut bark,
ravel root, wormwood, lobelia herb and seed, skullcap herb, white willow bark, horsetail herb,
d St. John’s wort).
11. Defendants advertise, promote, offer for sale, sell, and distribute comfrey products
o consumers throughout the United States via the Internet, and by mail and newsdletters, among
ther means.
12. Defendants advertisements and promotional materials include, among others, the
ollowing statements:

a) Herbs have been discovered to be the safest, most natural, and effective way to
restore and build a healthy body. [Exhibit A]

b) Asthe widespread use of herbal and natural therapies prove themselves to be
safer and more effective than orthodox medicines, the pharmaceutical giants are
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becoming increasi ngIK anxious to tap into the financial growth of the emerging
herba market. . . Within each herb are the cofactors, synergists, buffers and
supporting chemicals that render the utilization of the active ingredients safe,
nontoxic and balancing to the body. [Exhibit B]

c) Comfrey root . . . has expectorant, astingent [sic], soothing, and healing effects.
It reduces inflammation and controls bleeding. Use internally for chronic
bronchial diseases, gastric and duodenal ulcers, and colitis. Use externally for
psoriasis, eczema, sores, varicose veins, and ulcers, arthritis, sprains, strains,
bruises, bunions, hemorrhoids, sore breasts during lactation, injuries and fractures.
[ Exhibit C]

d) Comfrey leaf . . .Useinternally for chronic bronchia diseases, gastritis and
duodenal ulcers, colitis, and rheumatism. Externally for psoriasis, eczema, sores,
varicose veins and ulcers, arthritis, sprains, bunions, hemorrhoids, sore breasts
during lactation, and injuries including fractures. [Exhibit D]
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distribution of their comfrey products.
15. Defendants comfrey products, offered and sold for internal use, are either
‘foods’ or “drugs’ for purposes of Sections 12 and 15 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 52 and 55.
Safety Representations
16.  Through their advertising and promotional materials, including but not limited to

he representations set forth in Paragraph 12 above, defendants have represented, expressly or by

mplication, that their comfrey products are safe for consumers, including nursing women, when

aken interndly, as oral preparations, and when applied externally to burns, sores, and other open
ounds.

17. In truth and fact, comfrey and products containing comfrey are not safe when
aken internally, whether as oral preparations or applied to open wounds. Comfrey contains
yrrolizidine alkal oids which have been linked to seriousiliness, occasionally leading to death.

Internal consumption of comfrey can cause serious liver damage. Therefore, the making of the
epresentation set forth in Paragraph 16 was, and is, a deceptive practice and constitutes false
vertising for afood or drug, in violation of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 52.
18. Defendants did not possess and rely upon areasonable basis that substantiated the
epresentation set forth in Paragraph 16, at the time the representation was made. Therefore, the
aking of the representation set forth in Paragraph 16 is a deceptive practice and constitutes false
vertising for afood or drug, in violation of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 52.
Efficacy Representations

19. Through their advertising and promotional materials, including but not limited to
he representations set forth in Paragraph 12(c) above, defendants have represented, expressly or
y implication, that comfrey root, taken internally, is effective in the treatment of chronic
ronchial diseases, gastric and duodenal ulcers, and calitis.

20. Through their advertising and promotional materials, including but not limited to
he representations set forth in Paragraph 12(d), above, defendants have represented, expressly or
y implication, that comfrey leaf, taken internally, is effective in the treatment of chronic

ronchial diseases, gastritis and duodenal ulcers, colitis, and rheumatism.
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21.  Through their advertising and promotional materials, including but not limited to

he representations set forth in Paragraph 12(e), above, defendants have represented, expressly or
y implication, that Arthritis Tonic, taken internaly, is effective to reduce pain, relieve
nflammation, and repair tissues damaged by arthritis.

22.  Through their advertising and promotional materials, including but not limited to
he representations set forth in Paragraph 12(f), above, defendants have represented, expressly or
y implication, that Complete Tissue Repair Syrup, taken internally, is effective in the treatment
f al injuries and degenerative bone, muscle and nerve conditions, including osteoporosis,

thritis, multiple sclerosis, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

23. Defendants did not possess and rely upon areasonable basis that substantiated the
epresentations set forth in Paragraphs 19 through 22, at the time the representations were made.

herefore, the making of the representations set forth in Paragraphs 19 through 22 is a deceptive
ractice and constitutes false advertising for afood or drug, in violation of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 52.
CONSUMER INJURY

24.  Asaresult of defendants’ unlawful acts or practices, consumers throughout the
United States have suffered and continue to suffer monetary loss and possible injuriesto their
ealth. Defendants also have been unjustly enriched as aresult of their unlawful practices.
bsent injunctive relief by this Court, the defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers,
eap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.
THISCOURT'SPOWER TO GRANT RELIEF
25. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b), authorizes this Court to grant

njunctive and other equitable relief, including consumer redress, disgorgement and restitution, to
revent and remedy any violations of any provision of law enforced by the Commission.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE plaintiff Federal Trade Commission pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC

lAct, 15 U.S.C.8 53(b), and the Court’ s own equitable powers, requests that this Court:
1 Permanently enjoin defendants from violating the FTC Act as alleged herein;
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2. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers

esulting from defendants' violations of the FTC Act including the refund of monies paid and the
isgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and
3. Award plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and
ditional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.
Respectfully submitted,

WILLIAM E. KOVACIC
General Counsel

JAMESR. GOLDER

JUDITH A. SHEPHERD

THOMASB. CARTER
Attorneys for Plaintiff
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

JOHN K. VINCENT
United States Attorney

Edmund F. Brennan
Assistant United States Attorney

Dated:
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